FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
3/14/2022 4:30 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/15/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

WA Court of Appeals, Div 3 Case No. 375323

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STACY RUDDICK, APPELLANT

V.

RANDALL RUDDICK, RESPONDENT

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT (with authorized correction)

Stenzel Law Office
Gary R. Stenzel, WSBA # 16974
Attorney for Appellant
1325 W. Mallon Ave.
Spokane, Washington 99201
Stenz2193@comcast.net
(509) 327-2000

I. Statement of Facts

The two parties in this matter are Stacy Ruddick and Randall Ruddick. They were married for a number of years before they divorced in Spokane county. The Ruddicks had three children of their marriage. All three of their children were adversely affected by a birth disability called Angelman Syndrome. Angelman Syndrome is a neurological birth defect that is genetically based, which affects children's ability to speak, control their impulses, and otherwise makes them handicapped for life¹. The best way to describe this syndrome is that it leaves the children with a very happy and friendly disposition, normal beautiful appearance, however, ironically these children are almost too friendly, and too

¹ See e.g. https://www.angelman.org/what-is-as/ "Angelman syndrome (AS) is a rare neuro-genetic disorder that occurs in one in 15,000 live births or 500,000 people worldwide. It is caused by a loss of function of the UBE3A gene in the 15th chromosome derived from the mother. Angelman syndrome shares symptoms and characteristics with other disorders including autism, cerebral palsy and Prader-Willi syndrome. Due to the common characteristics, misdiagnosis occurs often. People with Angelman syndrome have developmental problems that become noticeable by the age of 6 – 12 months. Other common signs and symptoms usually appear in early childhood like walking and balance disorders, gastrointestinal issues, seizures and little to no speech. Despite these symptoms, people with Angelman syndrome have an overall happy and excitable demeanor. An individual with AS will light up a room with their smile and laughter.

active, but cannot articulate words. In some ways it leaves the child like an autistic child, but with an extremely sociable personality, along with delayed learning and escape problems for the care giver. Because of the severity of the developmental problems of this disease process, expenses for these children are high to maintain some sort of normalcy, and is difficult to diagnose. In addition, to its diagnostic difficulties, the mother in this case, the Petitioner, is a single mother, with total responsibility for the parties 3 Angelman syndrome children, and the father lives on the west side of Washington state, some 1,300 miles. CP's generally & *Ruddick*, No. 35416-4-III (Wash.Ct.App. Dec. 6, 2017), herein after *Ruddick1*.

While the children were with the mother in Spokane, in the fall of 2012, she filed a notice of intended relocation to San Diego and served the father, with a relocation notice. Id. After being served with the Relocation Notice, the father objected and on the date of there was a relocation trial, which the mother won and relocated. CP 1-4. The father only received 2 weeks a year in the summer, that he could exercise in California, or with proper measures for the children' safety, he could fly them up to the Seattle area and visit

with him in this state. CP 5-11. Besides the "relocation" parenting plan, the judge also reserved the final relocation child support issue until after the mother moved to San Diego, which occurred around 2013. CP 5-11.

After the mother's move to San Diego, a Petition was filed to have the child support issue addressed. CP 24-28. The child support "modification" hearing was set in front of a pro tem Commissioner, in 2016. CP 162, 262-266. After the hearing, and by letter ruling, the Commissioner gave Mr. Ruddick a child support "credit" for the entirety of all his costs to visit these children; i.e. air fare, rental car, nice condominium, his food and treats, and other vacation type costs; however, she did not give Ms. Ruddick the same credits for the same or similar costs she incurred when the children were in her care. Id. Ms. Ruddick filed a reconsideration motion, and asked for that same fairness in the orders. CP 283-290. The Commissioner denied her request in a letter ruling, but did not either draft, sign, or enter final child support orders to that affect. CP 306-309. To complicate things, the pro tem Commissioner also resigned from her duties as a part time judicial officer. The mother's counsel then had to set up a presentment with the Senior Commissioner, who had to piece together what the pro tem ruled. CP 318-326. The orders from that presentment was on the date of April 23, 2017 (CP 327-333), and was timely appealed.

On the date of December 6th, 2017, Division III, of the Court of Appeals granted the appeal and remanded the matter back to the trial court for entry of orders consistent with their opinion. See *Ruddick1*, *supra*. The court provided instructions for the remand that if the court needed to see if these special expenses were appropriate for the father to reduce his child support from 2016 to date. Id.

On remand, the trial court Commissioner granted a deviation for all of the father's "visitation expenses", in a letter ruling. However, there was no mention by the commissioner of what to do with Ms. Ruddick's special needs expenses that she incurred the other 50 weeks of the year dealing with their children's special needs. Ms. Ruddick filed a motion for reconsideration (CR59), asking for her expenses to be shared in their child support percentages, or disallow such credits for Randall. Mr. Ruddick's counsel filed an objection to Ms. Ruddick's reconsideration request, stating that the issue of her receiving the same credits should not be allowed, since it was

specifically not allowed by Division III, and was a frivolous motion. CP 370. Because the Commissioner made her decision on the reconsideration "under advisement" in writing, no further argument was allowed on that issue. Id. Ms. Ruddick's request to receive the same credit as the father, was completely rejected by the Commissioner, and she also sanctioned Ms. Ruddick for an alleged duplicative motion. Id.

Ms. Ruddick appealed the Commissioner's remand child support order to Division III. CP 327-333. On the date of February 24th, 2022 Division III upheld the Commissioner's allowance of the father's "visitation costs", remanded the case back to the Commissioner to rule on Ms. Ruddick's request for an upward deviation consistent with Mr. Ruddick received his "visitation" costs. The court stated in that opinion,

by the court, Stacy did assign error to Commissioner Roth "treating the mother's request for rearing costs such as diapers, etc., for these disabled children, differently than the father's request for reimbursement of those expenses." Appellant's Opening Br. at 8, Ruddick, No. 35416-4-III (Wash.Ct.App. Dec. 6, 2017); and see id. at 17-18. Contrary to the order proposed by Randall and entered by the commissioner, this court did say, in its 2018 opinion:

Stacy Ruddick next contends the trial court erred in denying her request for some reimbursement of rearing costs, such as diapers, when affording Randall partial reimbursement for the same costs. We have reversed such costs. Stacy may raise this argument again during the remand hearing. Ruddick, slip op. at 15 (emphasis added).

For Stacy to renew the argument about her own expenses following remand was, no doubt, duplicative of an argument earlier made and rejected by Commissioner Roth. But her reargument of the issue was explicitly authorized by this court. Stacy should not have been sanctioned for raising the argument and Randall should not be rewarded for misremembering what was raised and ruled in the earlier appeal. We reverse the \$750 attorney fees imposed as a sanction. In re Marriage of Ruddick (Wash. App. 2022) Emphasis added.

Since receiving this latest remand order, referred to as *Ruddick2*, the Commissioner sent out a letter, consistent with the remand orders, telling the attorneys that she will take the remand order under advisement, and the parties now await her ruling. In the meantime, the Petitioner mother has filed this Petition for Review prior to the expiration of the 30 day appeal window, and asks this court to <u>stay their ruling</u> until the Superior Court makes their ruling on these expenses for the mother, pursuant to RAP 17.4(d).

II. Law & Argument

A. This case involves substantive public policy issues regarding the care and support of severely handicapped children in the care of a single parent's home, therefore, it fits the profile of cases ripe for the Supreme Court's input.

The Supreme Court requires that a party file a request for acceptance of their appeal by a Petition for Review based on one or

more of the factors in RAP 13.4. The legal basis for this appeal is that there are significant public policy/constitutional issues that need to be addressed in this case regarding parenting plans and the expenses for disabled children, both for visitation and similar, if not the same cost for their primary care taker.

Our courts have made it clear that parenting and child support issues, involve significant public policy issues. See e.g. *In re Welfare of Sumey*, 94 Wash.2d 757, 762, 621 P.2d 108 (1980); *In re Dependency of Schermer*, 169 P.3d 452, 161 Wn.2d 927 (Wash. 2007); *In re Welfare of Becker*, 87 Wash.2d 470, 477, 553 P.2d 1339 (1976); *Childers v. Childers*, 89 Wn.2d 592, 575 P.2d 201 (Wash. 1978).

The public policy issues would seem to be even more significant if there are disabled children involved, and may even be exacerbated if the trial court reduces the non-primary parent's child support for those children, by awarding the non-primary parent a reduction deviation in the support for every cent of the costs to visit these children, especially if the custodial parent has all of the same costs in her household. This is then may be magnified if the primary parent is a single parent of multiple handicapped children in her

household, and the father only visits their children only for 5% of the year. Such windfall child support deviation to the noncustodial parent treats the primary parent completely different than the since the custodial parent's rearing costs are doubly reduced since she not only receives less support, she has to pay for the same things in her home. She is not treated equally or appropriately.

With regard to the public policy and constitutional issues, and family law orders, they must pass constitutional scrutiny. See *Troxel et vir. v Granville*, 530 U.S. 57, 120 S.Ct. 2054, 147 L.Ed.2d 49 (2000). Domestic cases in general, and the proper application of family law statutes regarding all such matters, including child support, also reach constitutional issues. *Buecking v. Buecking*, 179 Wash.2d 438, 316 P.3d 999 (Wash. 2013). In addition, the application of domestic statutes can cross into equal protection issues as well. See e.g. *In re the Parentage of K.R.P. (dob: 09/05/95) And K.H.R.P. (dob: 05/17/98)*, 160 Wash.App. 215, 247 P.3d 491 (Wash. App. 2011). This seems even more true for disabled children.

Specifically with regard to disabled children and the importance of a proper amount of child support, our courts have

made it clear that the state may even intrude upon a parent's life who has a disabled child, but does not have the ability, financial or otherwise to pay for their care. See e.g. See, e.g., In re Welfare of Feldman, 94 Wash.2d 244, 615 P.2d 1290 (1980); In re Dependency of Schermer, 169 P.3d 452, 161 Wn.2d 927 (Wash. 2007). Therefore, if Ms. Ruddick is shorted support because of a reduction in the father's standard amount of support, for very things that she must provide for their children daily for over 95% of the year, this clearly becomes not only a public policy issue, it becomes a "fairness" issue and constitutional issue since she could find herself unable to properly care for the children and CPS, or DSHS could become involved. All in all, this clearly is a fairness issue, as well as a due process, equal treatment under the law, and constitutional issue.

B. The Court Commissioner provided Mr. Ruddick with a deviation under RCW 26.19.075(1)(c)(iii) & (iv), reducing the child support that the mother received from the father, but denied the mother's request for the same kind of deviation upward for these exact same costs, which does not seem to fit with the purposes of this statute.

The Court of Appeals in *Ruddick1* set the issue of a "credit" back to the trial court to see if there was any statutory basis for both Mr. and Ms. Ruddick's requested support for their "parenting time

expenses". See *Ruddick1 supra*. The father asked that all his costs such as a rental vehicle, his gas, all his food, and his vacation condo (shelter) be shared by the mother proportionally. Ostensibly, the father's request was to have her pay "her share" of all of his visitation vacation costs, which, if granted would set a substantially inappropriate reduction in support for these disabled children, and seemingly violate the intent of RCW 26.19.75 et seq. and Ms. Ruddick's Constitutional rights.

With the remand instructions in hand, Commissioner Ressa's 10/22/19 Order on remand, granted the father's request for this deviation downward, under RCW 26.19075, as follows:

Findings of Fact...

- 6. Mr. Ruddick incurs extra expenses during his residential time due to the children's disabilities.
- 7. The parent's share the cost of these expenses because a deviation reduces the transfer payment to Ms. Ruddick each month.
- 8. The extra expenses incurred by Mr. Ruddick for his 2 weeks of residential time support a deviation from the standard calculation of child support.
- 9. This court will not disturb the original court's findings regarding the calculation of those expenses.
- 10. These special needs children have expenses that warrant a deviation from the child support standard calculation.

Conclusions of Law

1. The court may deviate from the standard calculation after consideration of expenses for the special needs of disabled children and the special medical, educational, or

- psychological needs of the children. RCW 26.19.075(c)(iii) and (iv).
- 2. The listed reasons for deviation under RCW 26.19.075 are not an exhaustive list.

Order

- 1. Of the \$4500 per year in expenses on which Pro Tem Commissioner Roth based a child support credit for Mr. Ruddick, \$570 per year shall be allocated as transportation expenses and the remaining \$3,930 shall be an annual deviation based on the special medical and psychological needs of these disabled children.
- 2. The monthly deviation from the standard calculation of child support is \$375 per the prior order
- 3. Mr. Ruddick's deviation will only be allowed if he exercises his 2 weeks of residential time in the same and similar manner in which he argued for these expenses. See appendix 1 attached herewith.

As can be seen, the Commissioner called this a shared "credit" against Mr. Ruddick's support a "deviation" under RCW 26.19.075(c), and allowed it, thereby reducing Ms. Ruddick's child support by \$375 a month, an amount higher than many standard child support amounts themselves. The purpose behind the deviation statute used by Commissioner Ressa to justify this downward support amount, seems to have been violated. The legislation passed this statute seemingly to insure that parents of children are not put in a financially difficult position by a deviation. Division III clearly stated this in the case of *Sigler v. Sigler*, 932

P.2d 710, 85 Wn.App. 329 (Wash. App. 1997), when they made the following remarks regarding such deviations:

"Finally, the classification must reasonably relate to the purpose of the legislation. The stated purpose behind RCW 26.19 is to (1) insure a child's basic needs are met, and (2) equitably apportion the child support obligations between the parents. RCW 26.19.001. The State has an interest in requiring parents, rather than the taxpayer, to financially support their children. The Legislature's purpose is to have parents fully financially support their children whenever possible."