FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/25/2022 12:55 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100739-6 WA Court of Appeals, Div 3 Case No. 37532-3-III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STACY RUDDICK, APPELLANT

V.

RANDALL RUDDICK, III, RESPONDENT

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Nelson Law Office Jason R. Nelson, WSBA #25107 Attorney for Respondent 922 West Broadway Spokane, WA 99201 jasonrnelsonlaw@gmail.com (509) 328-9499

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

RANDALL RUDDICK, by and through his attorney, JASON R. NELSON, respectfully requests this court deny review of the February 8, 2022 unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals in Ruddick v. Ruddick, Cause No. 37532-3-III.

II. ANSWER TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. The decision of the Court of Appeals does not involve a substantial public interest issue or constitutional issue that should be determined by the Supreme Court.
- 2. The decision of the Court of Appeals is not inconsistent with the previous decision of the Court of Appeals in this same matter, nor is it in conflict with any statutes or previous decisions of other courts.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The parties have three children from their marriage, Olivia, Randall and Dennis. **CP 5** At the time of entry of the last Child Support Order, (May 23, 2017), the children were ages 12, 10 and 8, respectively. **CP 329** Ms. Ruddick has been the primary parent of the children. **CP 2.** All three of the children have been diagnosed with a genetic disorder known as Angelman Syndrome and

require substantial developmental treatment care and attention. CP 2

In February 2013, the parties concluded a trial on Ms. Ruddick's request to relocate with the minor children from the state of Washington to San Diego, California. The trial court determined that Mr. Ruddick was unable to overcome the presumption in favor of the relocation and, among other findings, the court found that although his reasons for objecting were also important they were not sufficient to balance against the relocation. **CP 2**

On February 15, 2013, the court entered a new parenting plan that took into account the geographical distance and the special needs of the children. **CP 5-11** Primarily the plan allowed Mr. Ruddick residential time during the last two weeks of August each year. **CP** 7 The trial court found that given the distance and the cost of long-distance transportation a "standard" parenting plan would be impractical to follow. **CP** 6 Regarding the costs of transportation, the trial judge found that both parties presented facts relating to travel costs and that there would no doubt be "expensive" travel costs for the father. **CP** 3

Regarding child support, the trial court ordered that because there was a pending support modification action, the current order of child support would remain in effect until modified and the modification commissioner was ordered to take into account transportation costs as a result of the relocation of the children.

CP 3-4 The trial court further ordered that Mr. Ruddick was to receive the tax

exemptions for 2012 and for all subsequent years unless Ms. Ruddick could demonstrate a benefit from the exemptions based on her income, subject to being addressed at the child support modification hearing. **CP 4**

On September 19, 2014, a hearing was held on the petitioner's motion to have the respondent held in contempt for missing his visit with the children during the summer of 2014. After reviewing the declarations of the parties and hearing the argument of counsel, the commissioner found that Mr. Ruddick could have exercised the summer visit and he was held in contempt for not doing so.

CP 138-144 Attorney's fees and respite costs for the petitioner were ordered with the amount to be determined at the time of the modification hearing. CP 143 Mr. Ruddick was able to purge the finding of contempt by exercising his 2015 summer visit. CP 142, 163 Mr. Ruddick subsequently purged the contempt. CP 225-226

On March 26, 2015, the Honorable Maryann Moreno, Superior Court

Judge revised the decision of the commissioner as to the respite costs sought by
the petitioner. The judge ordered that Mr. Ruddick could offset the respite costs
by exercising additional time with the children in California by August 15, 2015.

CP 166 Mr. Ruddick exercised the additional residential time. CP 225-226

On February 3, 2016, in preparation for the support modification hearing, Mr. Ruddick submitted a declaration in which he stated that he had incurred visitation expenses in the summer of 2015 in the amount of \$7,161.42 and that he

did not believe visitation expenses would be significantly less in the summer of 2016. **CP 226** Mr. Ruddick stated in his declaration that the 2015 visit was for four weeks so he did expect the two-week visit in 2016 to be less in terms of food and necessities but because he had received an unexpectedly good deal on housing in 2015 he did not expect that expense to change in 2016. **CP 226** On the same date, Mr. Ruddick filed a proposed child support worksheet that included transportation and visitation expenses of \$500.00 per month. **CP 228**

A child support modification hearing was held on February 8, 2016 and a written ruling was submitted on April 22, 2016. **CP 262-266**

In her written ruling, the commissioner found that the both parties agreed that Ms. Ruddick's net income was \$5,141.00 per month. **CP 263**

Relying on Mr. Ruddick's most recent paystub, the commissioner found Mr. Ruddick's net monthly income to be \$3,804.00. **CP 263**

In addressing the costs associated with Mr. Ruddick's residential time, the commissioner found that given the special needs of the children, Mr. Ruddick would need to obtain a "condominium-like" setting for himself and the three children, pay for travel costs to and from California and provide for food and necessities in-home. **CP 263-264**

The commissioner found that Ms. Ruddick alleged that Mr. Ruddick's visitation expenses would not total more than \$1,680.00 per year. However, the

commissioner found her testimony to be inconsistent with her previous claim for respite care for two weeks, which she alleged would total \$4,000.00 for in-home care and \$9,000.00 for out-of-home care. **CP 263-264**

The commissioner found that Mr. Ruddick had provided an accounting of these expenses for his visit in 2013 and 2015, with receipts for the major expenses. **CP 264** The commissioner determined the average yearly costs for the visits was \$4,213.00. **CP 264** Given an expectation that travel costs would fluctuate, the court set the travel and visitation expenses at \$4,500.00 per year and allowed Mr. Ruddick a monthly credit of \$375.00 per month. **CP 264** Taking into account the net incomes and credit, the commissioner set Mr. Ruddick's child support obligation at \$777.00 per month. **CP 264**

On the same date that she issued her written ruling, the commissioner signed and entered a child support worksheet reflecting her ruling. **CP 258-261**The entry of the worksheet was referenced by the commissioner in her written ruling in which she stated, "I have filed a signed child support worksheet that reflects these numbers." **CP 264** The worksheet entered states that it is "signed by the Judicial/Reviewing Officer" and is not designated as a "proposed" worksheet. **CP 258** No revision hearing ever took place regarding the commissioner's order and worksheet of that date.

On July 15, 2018, a final Order for Child Support was entered reflecting

the figures as set forth in the commissioner's worksheet and addressing such issues as a credit for past transportation expenses and the allocation of income tax exemptions. **CP 275-281**

On July 25, 2016, Ms. Ruddick filed a new declaration as part of a motion for reconsideration. In her new declaration, she made new allegations regarding her income, asserted the existence of special expenses not covered by the regular transfer payment and provided testimony regarding what she believed were reasonable transportation and visitation expenses for Mr. Ruddick. Ms. Ruddick also requested additional relief not sought at the time of hearing. **CP 283-290**

Mr. Ruddick responded with his own declaration in which he challenged the timeliness of the motion, the attempt to submit new evidence post-hearing, the attempt to request relief not argued for at the time of hearing and the factual assertions of Ms. Ruddick. **CP 291-296.** Ms. Ruddick replied, claiming that some of the information she alleged was not available to her until after the modification hearing. **CP 297-301**

On September 29, 2016, the commissioner entered a written order denying the motions for reconsideration filed by Ms. Ruddick, with the exception of the request to reduce her income. The commissioner then recalculated child support based on the new income figures. **CP 306-309**

On May 23, 2017, the new final Order of Child Support was entered based on the commissioner's ruling of September 29, 2016. Because the commissioner

who conducted the hearing and made the subsequent decision on reconsideration was a commissioner pro tem who was no longer serving as such, the final order was signed by another commissioner. **CP 327-333** Thereafter, Ms. Ruddick filed an appeal with the Court of Appeals, Division III. **CP 334-345**

In a November 1, 2018 unpublished decision, the Division III Court of Appeals held that expenses such as rent, diapers, entertainment, car rental fees and food expenses did not qualify as "long distance transportation expenses" under RCW 26.19.080(3) but that such expenses could be apportioned between the parents as special child rearing expenses for visitation purposes. The court remanded the matter for a determination of whether the expenses claimed by Mr. Ruddick could be apportioned based on grounds other than "long distance transportation expenses." Additionally, the court of appeals ruled that on remand, Ms. Ruddick could raise her arguments regarding whether the claimed expenses were excessive and whether she should also be reimbursed for similar expenses. This case is referred to below as Ruddick1. In re Marriage of Ruddick, No. 35516-4-III (Wn. App, Nov 1, 2018)

On remand, the commissioner reviewing the matter found that Mr. Ruddick had \$3,930.00 per year in special child rearing expenses based on the special medical and psychological needs of the children, in addition to long distance transportation expenses. Mr. Ruddick was then granted a deviation in child support of \$375.00 per month.

Ms. Ruddick's request for a deviation based on claims of special child rearing expenses was denied, with a finding by the commissioner that the appellate court's opinion did not direct the trial court to consider Ms. Ruddick's claims of additional expenses. Ms. Ruddick filed a timely appeal of the commissioner's decision on remand.

In an unpublished opinion dated February 28, 2022, the Division III Court of Appeals affirmed the commissioner's decision on remand except as to the award of fees granted Mr. Ruddick and as to the determination that the commissioner was not required to consider the special child rearing expenses claimed by Ms. Ruddick. The appellate court remanded the matter back to the commissioner for the limited purpose of reviewing Ms. Ruddick's claim for reimbursement for special child rearing expenses, with the evidence considered to be that which was filed prior to September 29, 2016. This case is referred to below as Ruddick2.

The remanded issue was subsequently ruled on by the commissioner and an order was entered.

IV. ARGUMENT

This case does not involve a substantive public policy issue or constitutional issue that should be resolved by the Supreme Court.

Contrary to the argument of Ms. Ruddick, the parents in this matter have been equally treated under the law. In the present case, the appellate court has

ruled in two separate decisions that the trial court should consider each party's claim of special child rearing expenses. In "Ruddick 2" the appellate court specifically ordered the trial court to consider Ms. Ruddick's claims regarding special child rearing expenses, just as the trial court had regarding Mr. Ruddick's claim of such expenses. There is no equal protection issue arising from the appellate court's decisions in this matter.

The record before the trial court and the appellate court does not support Ms. Ruddick's argument that the allocation of special child rearing expenses between the parties could potentially lead to an inability to properly care for the children and the involvement of CPS in this matter. Ms. Ruddick's argument in her petition for review is that the parents should be treated fairly in the application of the statute as to special child rearing expenses. The decisions of the court of appeals treats both parents fairly by directing the court to consider the claims of both parents. As such, contrary to the petition filed by Ms. Ruddick, the rulings by the Division III Court of appeals were appropriate under Washington law, consistent with the public policies behind those laws and pass any constitutional scrutiny. Both parents were treated equally in the application of the law.

With respect to the Ruddick's and their children, the statements within the petition that the disabilities of the Ruddick children makes review more necessary in this case are not supportable. Whether or not a child is disabled, the family law statutes, particularly regarding child support, should be consistently applied. That

is why, however, statutes such as **RCW 26.19.075** and and **RCW 26.19.080** allow the courts to consider other types of expenses not normally incurred in a household and provides for how the courts may treat such expenses.

There is no valid equal protection argument or public policy issue that needs to be resolved by the Supreme Court.

There are no inconsistencies in the two decisions from the Court of Appeals in this matter.

Ms. Ruddick argues that the court should accept review "given the apparent inconsistencies in the application of this statute by Division III Court of Appeals." The statute referred to by Ms. Ruddick is **RCW 26.19.075**.

In Ruddick1, the Division III Court of Appeals reviewed the decision of the trial court awarding Mr. Ruddick a deviation in his child support obligation based on long distance transportation expenses. The appellate court found that some of the expenses did not qualify as transportation expenses given a plain reading of the statute. The appellate court also found, however, that there could be a statutory basis to order the sharing of the non-transportation expenses and remanded the matter to the trial court for a determination on that issue. The appellate court also ordered that Ms. Ruddick could raise the issue of special child rearing expenses that she incurs at the remand hearing.

In Ruddick2, the trial court reviewed the remand decision of the commissioner. On remand, the commissioner found that the non-transportation

expenses documented by Mr. Ruddick were appropriate expenses to consider based on the special medical and psychological needs of the children and that RCW 26.19.075(c)(iii) and (iv) allows the court to deviate from the standard calculation for support in consideration of such expenses.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals reviewed the commissioner's decision that the expenses were appropriately considered and an appropriate basis for deviation. The appellate court agreed that RCW 26.19.075 provided a nonexclusive list of bases for deviation from the standard calculation in child support and that RCW 26.19.080 also allowed the court to consider the allocation of special child rearing expenses.

The appellate court found that the trial court's decision on remand was consistent with the directions of the appellate court in Ruddick1. In Ruddick1, the appellate court authorized the trial court to consider whether there was a statutory ground under which to consider the non-transportation expenses documented by Mr. Ruddick. That is in fact what the commissioner subsequently did. The appellate court's decision in Ruddick2 to uphold the ruling of the commissioner on remand regarding the statutory bases was completely consistent with the ruling of the appellate court's decision in Ruddick1.

Further, the remand ordered by the appellate court in Ruddick2, was consistent with the decision in Ruddick1. In Ruddick1, the appellate court allowed Ms. Ruddick to request the court to consider her claims regarding child

rearing expenses as well. On remand, it was erroneously argued on the part of Mr. Ruddick that the issue was not before the trial court on remand and the commissioner agreed. In Ruddick2, the appellate court discussed the error and ordered a second remand, directing that the commissioner consider Ms. Ruddick's claims regarding such expenses. (The Ruddick2 court correctly limited the evidence to be considered to that filed prior to September 29, 2016.) That decision in Ruddick2 was entirely consistent with the appellate court's decision in Ruddick1.

The appellate court did not preclude Ms. Ruddick from asking the trial court to consider special child rearing expenses to the same extent that the trial court considered those expenses of Mr. Ruddick. In fact, in both Ruddick1 and Ruddick2, the trial court directed the expenses to be considered to the extent they were part of the record prior to September 29, 2016. Contrary to Ms. Ruddick's petition, the parties were not treated differently.

Ms. Ruddick's claims to the court in her petition that the resulting decision of the trial court leaves her financially unable to support the children is not supported by the record in this case, which includes findings regarding the income of Ms. Ruddick as well as the additional financial support Ms. Ruddick receives from other sources to offset the child rearing expenses she claims. As is also pointed out by the court of appeals in Ruddick2, Ms. Ruddick's claims regarding

such expenses have been inconsistent. Regardless, in both Ruddick1 and Ruddick2, the appellate court directed the trial court to consider and evaluate such claims.

V. CONCLUSION

Mr. Ruddick requests that the Supreme Court deny the request for review.

There are no constitutional issues to be clarified, no substantial public policy interests to be addressed and no inconsistencies in the application of the statutes by the Division III Court of Appeals.

I certify that there are 3,177 words in this response, including the title page and the following declaration of service.